Neath Port Talbot AGENDA
=== (astell-nedd Port Talbot

County Borough Council Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol

STREETSCENE AND ENGINEERING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
10.00 am MONDAY, 11 DECEMBER 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER - PORT TALBOT CIVIC CENTRE

PART 1
1.  Toreceive any declarations of interest from Members
2.  To scrutinise information and monitoring issues being reported by:

Report of the Director of Environment

3.  Consultation on Environment Directorate's Budget and Draft
Savings for 2018/19 (Pages 3 - 40)

4.  Any urgent items (whether public or exempt) at the discretion of the
Chairman pursuant to Section 100B (4) (b) of the Local
Government Act 1972

S.Phillips
Chief Executive

Civic Centre
Port Talbot Monday, 4 December 2017




Committee Membership:

Chai

Vice
Chai

rperson: Councillor S.M.Penry

Councillor R.Thomas
rperson:

Councillors: A.R.Aubrey, N.J.E.Davies, R.Davies,

W.F.Griffiths, C.James, H.Jones, A.McGrath,
J.Warman, R.W.Wood and S.ap.Dafydd

Notes:

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

(5)

If Committee Members or non-Committee Members wish to have
relevant items put on the agenda for future meetings, then please
notify the Chief Executive/Chair eight days before the meeting.

If non-Committee Members wish to attend for an item of interest, then
prior notification needs to be given (by 12.00 noon on the day before
the meeting). Non-Committee Members may speak but not vote, or
move or second any motion.

For pre scrutiny arrangements, the Chair will normally recommend
forthcoming executive items for discussion/challenge. It is also open
to Committee Members to request items to be raised - though
Members are asked to be selective here in regard to important
issues.

The relevant Cabinet Board Members will also be invited to be
present at the meeting for Scrutiny/ Consultation purposes.

Would the Scrutiny Committee Members please bring the Cabinet
Board papers with them to the meeting.



Agenda Iltem 3

NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Streetscene & Engineering Scrutiny Committee
11" December 2017

Report of the Director of Environment
Matter for Scrutiny
Wards Affected: All Wards

CONSULTATION ON ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE’S BUDGET
AND DRAFT SAVINGS FOR 2018/19

Purpose of Report

1 To provide Members of the Streetscene and Engineering Scrutiny
Committee with supplementary information concerning the savings
proposals for the Environment Directorate budget, set out in the
Cabinet report of 8" November 2017, with a view to aiding the
scrutiny of these proposals.

Executive Summary

2 The Environment Directorate has made considerable savings over
the last few years and has reduced large numbers of staff,
particularly front line staff who deliver a broad range of public
facing services which the Directorate delivers across the County
Borough on a daily basis.

The Directorate budget is currently £32.710m and is currently
11.9% of the total Authority’s net budget. Since 2009/10, the
Directorate has contributed over £18m towards the Authority’s
saving target and this total will increase to circa £20m allowing for
the removal of one-off monies this year and if all the savings
proposals currently out to consultation are implemented.

During financial years 2013/14 and 2014/15, over 200 staff left the

Directorate under the ER/VR scheme and in excess of 400 staff
have left in the last seven years.

Page 3



Background

3

On the 10" October 2017 The Welsh Government (WG)
announced details of the Provisional Local Government Settlement
for 2018/19. The settlement shows that the WG are providing
£4.205bn of funding for Local Government. However this is £20m
or -0.5% less in real terms in comparison with the current year.
Neath Port Talbot Council’s share at £210.832m is slightly better
than the Welsh average but is a reduction of £950k or -0.4%.
However, given that the Welsh Government provides 75% of our
net budget funding, and the Council Tax payer pays only 25%, this
reduction in funding has a significant impact on the amount
available to the Council to spend on service delivery.

Neath Port Talbot Council‘s net revenue budget for 2017/18 is
£274.677M.

Draft Budget 2018/19

4

On the 8" November 2017 the Council’s Cabinet resolved to
commence public consultation on its budget and draft savings
proposals for 2018/19. It is projected that financial savings of
£10.2m are required to set the balanced budget for the next
financial year and more than £60m over the next five financial
years.

This report sets out for Members scrutiny further details on the
savings proposals required for the Environment Directorate’s
budget.

Draft savings for consultation

5

Attached at Appendix 1 is a schedule of proposals which are out to
public consultation for the Environment Directorate and affect this
Cabinet Board. Please find below specific information from each
Head of Service relating to the draft savings proposal for 2018/19

Savings Proposals 18/19

ENV801(£200k) — This proposal sets out a range of income generation
options and digital improvements of the Authority’s Parking service for
implementation during 2018/19 (Appendix 2). The proposal sets out

balancing revenue generating opportunities as an alternative to further

Page 4



service cuts within the Environment Directorate. There are a number of
anomalies within the charging structure in the County, which could be
aligned and includes an increase in tariff charges across all bands,
including changes to the parking charges at the Gnoll and Afan Forest
Park. The proposal also considers service improvements including
virtual permitting as part of the Council’s Digital Transformation
Programme and mobile CCTV camera van enforcement around County
Schools and to other Traffic Regulation Orders, to improve road safety.
The overall proposals could generate income in the region of up to circa
£300K (net £200K) to allow for one-off set up costs of changes to
Enforcement and Digital Permitting, and increases in NNDR.

ENV802(£200k) — The Council is coming to the end of what has been a
long and protracted procurement process in an attempt to transfer
operation of the MREC to the private sector, wind up the current local
authority owned operating company, and save money. The EU
compliant competitive tender process failed to achieve a successful
conclusion with no compliant tenders being submitted and this Council,
with its partners Bridgend Council, are now attempting to secure a
contract via the single negotiated tender route process as allowed by
regulations after a failed competitive process. Indications are a saving
of £200k can be achieved but as with any contractual arrangements
there are a balance of risks to be weighed up along with any potential
financial gains.

ENV803(£100k) — The Council’s current contract for the operation of
Pwllfawatkin Household Waste Recycling Centre is up for renewal at the
end of march next year. The tender has always been awarded on a
single negotiated tender basis as the site is privately owned and to date
there has been no alternatives, with the opening of Powys’s facility at
Lower Cwmtwrch the Council is seeking prices for a new contract at
Pwllfawatkin and, as a potential alternative, a shared facility with Powys
at Lower Cwmtwch.

ENV804(£30k) — It is planned to consider all ER/VR applications with
respect to delivery of efficiency savings.

ENV807(£30k) — It is planned to increase car parking charges at the
Gnoll to £2.50 for up to 4 hours and £4 for all day, and increase the cost
of a season ticket to £52 per year. It is also proposed to review prices in
the cafe and continue to pursue other income raising measures in
general.

Page 5



ENV808 (£30k) — It is planned to increase the charge out rate for
surveys to both internal and external clients to recover an additional
contribution to overheads and move the service further towards a cost
neutral position.

Crime and Disorder Impact

6

The Council has a legal duty under Section 17 of the Crime and
Disorder Act 1998 to carry out all its various functions with “due
regard to the need to prevent Crime and Disorder in its area”

Individual proposals are being assessed as to their impact on
crime and disorder and should any specific impact be identified
these will be identified against individual proposals and
summarised in final proposals.

Equality Impact Assessment

2

The Equality Act 2010 required public bodies to “pay due regard to
the need to:

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act;

Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
and

Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristics and persons who do not share it.

The 8" November 2017 report identified the need for the Council
to make budget savings of £10.2m for 2018/19 and as such many
of these will have a negative impact on services provided across
the whole of the County Borough. Some of the proposals included
above do not directly impact on frontline services to the public.
Those that have a direct impact are subject to individual equality
impact screening and assessments.

Workforce Impact

8

The workforce will be impacted by reductions in budget available
to run services. The Council has shared this report and
information with trade unions and will hold staff briefings where
required over the next few months. The Council wishes to

Page 6



minimise compulsory redundancies and has launched its early
retirement/voluntary redundancy scheme on the 6" November
2017. Staff leaving under this scheme will assist in delivering
some of the financial savings.

Consultation

9 The Council has consulted on its strategic objectives and priorities
as adopted on the 28" September 2017 in the Corporate Plan for
2017-2022.
The report to Cabinet of 8" November 2017 sets out the proposed
response to the draft Local Government Settlement for 2018/19.
Public, Trade Union and staff consultation on the proposals set out
in this report are taking place up to the end of December 2017.

Recommendations

10 Itis recommended that Members review and scrutinise the savings
proposals included in this report.

Appendices

11  Appendix 1 — Draft savings for consultation
Appendix 2 - Income Generation and Digital Improvements to the
Authority’s Parking Service 2018/19

Background Papers

12  Budget working files

Wards Affected

13 Al

Officer Contact

14  For further information on this report item, please contact:

Mike Roberts, Head of Streetcare, Tel: 01639 686966 E-mail:
m.roberts@npt.gov.uk

Page 7


mailto:m.roberts@npt.gov.uk

David Griffiths, Head of Engineering & Transport, Tel: 01639
686340 E-mail: d.w.griffiths@npt.gov,uk

Page 8


mailto:d.w.griffiths@npt.gov,uk

Appendix 1

Ref Board Description Lead Main Impacts Net % 2018/19 2019/20
Budget saving £000 £000
2017/18
ENV801 | S&E Car Parking Dave Increased charges. Service 171 -117% 200 0
Griffiths options currently being prepared.
ENV802 | S&E Waste Disposal Michael Subject to the outcome of 4,915 4% 200 0
Procurement Roberts procurement
] ENV8B03 | S&E Household Waste Michael Alternative service delivery 1,299 8% 100 0
é Recycling Centres Roberts
2) ENV804 | all Staff redundancies | all Reduced staff capacity 0 N/A 30 0
/deletion of posts
ENV807 | S&E Gnoll Country Park | Michael Increase in charges including car 74 40% 30 0
Roberts parking
ENV808 | S&E Survey Team Michael Service Review 66 46% 30 0
Roberts




This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2

ENV801: Income Generation and Digital Improvements to the
Authority’s Parking Service 2018/19

Executive Summary

Members will be acutely aware that the Environment Directorate has
faced extensive savings over previous financial budget rounds. The
options set out below are an alternative to reducing services further.

There is a significant amount of anecdotal evidence, opinion and
speculation over the relationship between car parking provision and town
centre prosperity. Somewhat paradoxically this ranges from arguments
suggesting that ‘greater accessibility for cars on the high street will
increase the viability of town centres by improving trading for business’ to
‘restricting accessibility for cars will increase the viability of town centres
by cutting congestion and pollution whilst making the high street more
pedestrian friendly and increasing dwell time. The British Parking
Association in response to the Portas review has stated that “Free
parking, where demand exceeds supply will make town centres less
attractive, not more”. To date, we have been unable to obtain any
substantive evidence to suggest that reduced tariffs have increased
footfall nor improved prosperity in our town centres.

The Council currently supports a number of parking initiatives which
include first hour free and a reduced tariff structure in Pontardawe and as
part of the Business Improvement district (BID) free parking after 3pm on
the top floor of the Neath multi-storey car park (free after three on three).
Members are also advised that parking charges were reduced in 2016 by
30p per tariff band.

This report focuses on income generation and the continued
development of the parking service through digital transformation and
mobile CCTV camera van enforcement.

The proposals could generate in the region of up to circa £300K, net

£200K to allow for unfunded NNDR increases and one-off set up costs
for changes to enforcement.

Page 11



The following options are set out for Members’ consideration:-

Off-Street Car Parking

e To increase charges by 50p per tariff band implemented from 1°
April 2018.

e Pontardawe off-street car parking charges be brought into alignment
with Neath and Port Talbot town centres, and the revised charges
be implemented from 1 April 2018 as set out in the tariff schedule.

e Currently season permits cost; 3 months £100.00, 6 months
£180.00, 9 months £250 and 12 months £315. To increase charges
for season parking permits; 3 months £130, 6 months £225.00 and
12 months £410.00, be implemented from 1 April 2018. That the 9
month permit be discontinued.

Virtual Permits

Virtual Permits will allow drivers to apply for a Permit online via our
website. These permits will be processed in real time and the hand held
computers of Enforcements Officers will update instantaneously.

Permits can be purchased 24-hours a day seven days a week. This will

eliminate the need for paper permits that are currently required to be

displayed in vehicles.

Permits currently cost £20.00 per annum.

e The virtual permit system is introduced on 1* April 2018 subject to
the software testing.

e All permits are increased from £20.00 to £22.50 per annum.

Country Parks

The current charges are £2.00 all day at the Gnoll and £1.00 all day at
Afan Forest Park. The season permit at the Gnoll is currently £40.00.

The proposed tariff changes as per the attached car parking tariff
schedule detailing the daily cost of parking in the Gnoll and Afan Forest
parks, as follows:-

e The proposed charges of £1.00 up to 1 hour, £2.50 up to 4 hours

and £4.00 all day are implemented at Afan Forest Park from 1% April
2018.

Page 12



Afan Forest Park is incorporated into the off-street parking order.
The proposed charges of £2.50 up to 4 hours and £4.00 all day are
implemented at the Gnoll country park from 1% April 2018.

Season Tickets be increased to £52.00 per year (£1.00 per week) at
Gnoll Country Park.

Mobile CCTV Enforcement

Officers be authorised to purchase the hardware and software for
mobile CCTV enforcement. To process the digital mapping
necessary for the implementation of Traffic Regulations Orders and
submit a proposal to the Welsh Government for approval. Once
approved by Welsh Government to purchase a new enforcement
vehicle.

Aberavon Seafront Strategy

The current charge is £1.00 all day from 1 May to 30" September.

The tariff structure for the Aberavon seafront be introduced at a
charge of £2.00 for 1% May to 30™ September and £1.00 for 1%
October to 30™ April.

Victoria Road car park be incorporated into the Authority’s off-street
parking order at a charge of £2.00 for 1% May to 30™ September and
£1.00 for 1% October to 30" April.

A No Waiting No Loading Traffic Regulation Order is advertised for
The Princess Margaret Way, as illustrated on Plans A and that the
Order be implemented, subject to there being no objections.

A 2-Hour Limited Waiting, No Return within 4 Hours, 7 Days a
Week, be implemented to the existing parking bays to The Princess
Margaret Way, as illustrated at Plans B, and that the Order be
implemented, subject to there being no objections.

The WAO report on income generation highlighted a potential £42M
across Wales. NPT’s proposals will be in line with car park income
against population average revenue.

The Council car park income also funds the maintenance upkeep of car
parks to maintain appropriate standards of safety, lighting and equality
issues. The parking income account has spent £500K over five years
maintaining the assets.

Page 13



People are prepared to pay for good customer service and quality
parking facilities. They do not like to pay for poor service and facilities
and funds are needed to facilitate this. The British Parking Association
believe that the people that use the facilities should pay for them to help
to maintain the assets and increasing energy and maintenance costs.

Background

Off-Street Tariff Structure

Members are advised that the Authority last changed the off-street
parking tariffs in 2016. Members are reminded that off street income
from the Authority’s pay and display car parks is subject to VAT @ 20%
and that the VAT is payable to HMRC.

Currently there is a different tariff structure in Pontardawe; the structure
states up to 1 hour free and 2-3 hours 50 pence. There is no tariff
structure between 1 & 2 hours; this will need to be addressed.

During 2016/17 12,834 free 1 hour tickets were issued in Pontardawe.
Consideration needs to be given to the Pontardawe off street car parks
being brought in to line with the rest of the Authority’s town centre pay

and display car parks.

Set out below is the current off-street tariff structure together with the
previous off-street tariff structure.

Pre January 2016 Current
Up to 1 hour £1.30 £1.00
1-2 hours £1.80 £1.50
2-3 hours £2.30 £2.00
3-4 hours £2.80 £2.50
Over 4 hours £3.30 £3.00

It was proposed to trial the change in tariff structure for a 12 month
period. Should the Authority see no rise in public participation then it
was intended to return to the previous tariff structure.

This was due to end in January 2017 and changes made to be
implemented in April 2017. This decision was held in abeyance until
after the local elections in May 2017 in order that the new council
members would be able to participate in any review.

Page 14




Set out below is the income received over the last five financial years.
This illustrates the income received and will allow members to consider
any changes made in an informed manner.

Year Income
2016/17 £901,163
2015/16 £973,784
2014/15 £1,038,694
2013/14 £1,027,779
2012/13 £1,066,465

Shown below is the additional income that may be generated together
with a risk matrix. Members will need to be aware that the risk matrix is
based on the 2016/17 income figures.

The tariff options show the working figures for the projected increase.

2016/17

Income

£901,163

. . : Risk Factor : Projected

Tariff Projected | Projected on 2016/17 Potential Income with

Increase Income Increase Decrease .

Income Risk

10p £977,463 £76,300 5% £45,058 £856,105
20p £1,025,000 | £123,837 10% £90,116 £811,047
30p £1,043,774 | £142,611 15% £135,174 £765,989
40p £1,091,311| £190,148 20% £180,233 £720,930
50p £1,138,849 | £237,686 30% £270,349 £630,814

Attached is a comparable tariff structures for the neighbouring authorities

Pay and Display Tariffs

Authority 1 hour 2 hours 3 hours 4 hours 4+ Hours
Neath Port £1.00 £1.50 £2.00 £2.50 £3.00
Talbot
Swansea
Multi-storey | £1.40/£1.20 | £2.80/£2.40 | £4.00/£3.50 | £5.50/£4.50 | £2.20 per
hour

Page 15




Surface £1.20 £2.40 £3.50 £7.00
Bridgend 70p £1.50 £2.50 £4.00 £6.00
Carmarthen 50p £1.60 £2.20 £3.40 £2.30 (long
stay)
Llanelli £1.20 £1.60 £1.80 £2.00 £2.20
Pembrokeshire
Haverfordwest
Multi-storey 40p 50p 80p £1.40
Surface 40p 50p £1.00
Tenby
Multi-storey 40p 50p £1.50
Surface £1.00 £3.00

NB: Charges apply in the Neath, Port Talbot and Pontardawe town
centre car parks from 8am to 6pm Monday to Saturday and Neath and
Port Talbot 9am to 5pm on Sundays. Pontardawe currently has free car
parking on Sundays.

Members are also advised that the season permits for the Authority’s pay
and display car parks have not been reviewed for several years.

Set out below are the neighbouring Authorities charges for season
permits in their off-street car parks as well as this Authority’s charge for

season permits.

Off —Street Season Parking Permits

Authority 3 Months 6 Months 9 Months 12 Months
Neath Port Talbot £100 £180 £250 £315
Swansea
City Centre £220 £440 £735
Outside City £167 £334 £550
Bridgend £151.20 £302.40 £453.60 £604.80
Carmarthen £142.50 £285 £570
Llanelli £137.50 £275 £550
Pembrokeshire
Haverfordwest
Multi-storey £262/£328
Surface £280/£351
Tenby
Multi-storey £430/£540
Surface £367/£459

Bridgend season permits are for a quarter pro-rated for the year.
Pembrokeshire operate a flexi season permit and a reserved season

permit.

Page 16




Below are the current season permits offered to members of the public
together with the proposed revised structure and charges.

Current Season
Permit Duration Permits Income Daily Rate
Season Permit 12 months £315 67 £21,105.00 £0.86
Season Permit 9 months £250 1 £250.00 £0.92
Season Permit 6 months £180 35 £6,300.00 £0.99
Season Permit 3 months £100 46 £4,600.00 £1.11
Total number of permits on issue 149 £32,255.00
Proposed
Permit Duration Season Permits Income Daily Rate | % Rise

Season Permit 12
months £410 | 68 | 5788000 | £1.12 30
Season Permit 6
months £235 | 35 | 599500 £1.29 30
Season Permit 3
months £130 | 46 | £5980.00 £1.43 29
Total number of permits on issue 149 £42,085.00

Virtual Permit Scheme

Currently there is a need for physical permits to be displayed in the
Authority’s pay and display car parks and for on-street in the resident’s
bays and all other locations where a parking permit needs to be
observed by the Authority’s Civil Enforcement Officers.

Should the Authority introduce a virtual permit scheme then this will
remove the need to display a physical permit.

Off-street Car Parks

Currently the Authority operates a season permit system whereby the
member of the public purchases a season permit and displays the permit
in the front window of the vehicle.

On-street parking

The Authority operate numerous permit schemes within the borough,
where again a display of a physical permit is required. Parking services

Page 17



send out reminder letters to the residents one month in advance
informing them that their residents permit is about to expire and that they
need to renew their permit.

The table below shows the current cost of a residents permit in Neath
Port Talbot as well as the neighbouring authorities.

Residents Parking Permits Costs

Authority 12 Months | Replacement
Neath Port £20 £5
Talbot
Swansea Free £25
Bridgend Free Free
Carmarthenshire £30 £30
Pembrokeshire £40 £12.50

Members will be aware that a report was taken to Environment &
Highways Cabinet Board on the 16" February 2016 informing members
that the current parking enforcement and notice processing system was
last upgraded in 2007. The Authority had been notified by Imperial Civil
Enforcement Solutions that our current notice processing system will in
the future be only supported and not developed, to include any new
functionality. They will be concentrating their development on Compex
3sixty which is the system that could handle the virtual permit software
applications.

It is proposed that Imperial Civil Enforcement Solutions would host and
run all the permit schemes for the nominal cost of £2.50 per permit.
Hosting with Imperial Civil Enforcement Solutions removes the need for
capital investment for hardware as well as the costs and procedural
requirements for maintenance and system upgrades.

At the present moment the £20.00 paid covers the administration and
production of the permits. In order to stay at a cost neutral position it is
intended to increase the cost for each permit by £2.50.

The income from the permit scheme could then be invested in paying off
the initial expenditure for the introduction of a mobile CCTV enforcement
vehicle, once this has been covered then the income can be invested in
new civil enforcement officers to increase our enforcement capabilities
within the borough.

Page 18



Shown below are all the current permits on issue together with the
income attached to each permit and the cost of Imperial issuing each

permit.

Permit Type Cost | Number Income Imperial
Care Worker Permits £20 39 £780.00 | £97.50
Dispensation Permits £20 14 £280.00 £35.00
Family parking permit £20 95 £1,900.00 £237.50
Health board care workers
permit £20 177 £3,540.00 £442.50
Health Visitor Permits £20 5 £100.00 £12.50
Holiday Visitor Permit £20 2 £40.00 £5.00
Loading permit £20 63 £1,260.00 £157.50
Neath traders dispensation
permit £20 42 £840.00 £105.00
Residents permits £20 1865 £37,300.00 | £4,662.50
Temporary permits £20 21 £420.00 £52.50

2323 £46,460.00 | £5807.50

The Virtual Permit security questions posed by parking services and the
Authority’s IT services with regard to any risks to data being held by the
software company and their response to the questions for Members’
information.

Mobile CCTV Enforcement

Certain areas of the county borough are particularly difficult to enforce by
officers on foot. Their physical presence deters motorists contravening
the traffic regulation orders when they are in the area but not when they
leave. The unpredictability of when camera enforcement takes place
provides a greater deterrent, particularly in areas surrounding schools,
bus stops and other areas where road safety is of paramount
importance.

The Council has an obligation to those members of the public who are
also affected and discriminated against by such illegal parking, for
example people with disabilities wishing to board buses at bus stops.

Whilst it is apparent that great strides have been made in addressing the

above aims, it is clear that motorists are consistently ignoring the
restrictions which apply to bus stops, areas surrounding the entrances to

Page 19



schools and on areas subject to no waiting at any time, no loading at any
time restrictions. Whilst we endeavour to regularly deploy officers at
these restrictions their physical presence prevents parking only while
they are there. Once officers leave the area, inappropriate parking
recurs.

Enforcement as a deterrent is reliant on the potential for the
contravention being detected. Officers attending locations on foot are
required to deal with each vehicle in turn, allowing the drivers of other
vehicles contravening the restrictions to drive away without fear of
receiving a penalty charge notice.

Inconsiderate drivers who park their vehicles in ‘problem areas’ such as
on no stopping on school orders, at bus stops and where a loading ban
is in place are a danger to road users and pedestrians as well as causing
traffic congestion.

Local Authorities have a duty to tackle dangerous parking and the Traffic
Management Act 2004 (TMA) allows Councils to enforce parking at
problem areas, where motorists are putting the safety of others at risk
and causing unnecessary congestion. The Traffic Management Act
recommends that approved devices (such as mobile CCTV vehicles) are
used only in problem areas where enforcement is difficult or sensitive
and enforcement by Civil Parking Enforcement Officers (CEQO’s) is not
practical.

At present the Council does not have the equipment to allow these
problem areas to be addressed. Whilst visits are made to schools and
bus stops, this is having little or no effect on reducing the number of
contraventions. Mobile CCTV would capture images of those vehicles in
contravention of the traffic orders, allowing penalty charge notices to be
sent in the post. This method of enforcement ensures that the motorists
who contravene the parking restrictions understand that there is
likelihood of them receiving a penalty charge notice, even if there is no
civil parking enforcement officer patrolling on foot in the area.

The procurement of mobile CCTV camera enforcement equipment would
ensure that officers can enforce a greater geographical area. As the
equipment captures every vehicle contravention, it is more effective than
foot patrols.

The table below shows the anticipated outlay in bringing the CCTV
project to fruition:

Page 20



Product Cost |

CCTV Hardware £20,000

CCTV Software £6,000

Imperial Software £15,000

Staff Costs/Digitising £40,000
Communications £600

Total £81,600

New Enforcement Vehicle £15,000

Year 2 onwards

CCTV Maintenance £4,500
Hardware/Software
Imperial Maintenance £2,000
Communications £600
Total £7,100

The introduction of mobile enforcement would not remove the need to
have traditional on-foot enforcement. The legislation allows Councils to
use this equipment in problem areas, where enforcement is difficult or
sensitive and CEO enforcement is not practical.

The procurement of a mobile traffic enforcement system is proposed.

Such equipment is currently in use in a number of English authorities and
manufacturers have received certification of their equipment by the
Department of Transport. The Welsh Government has, until recently,
required manufacturers to have their equipment type-approved by the
Welsh Government. However they have recently revised this and
equipment approved by DfT will be certified by Welsh Ministers.

Aberavon Seafront Strategy

The Authority has received complaints from the members of public
regarding the current on and off-street parking provision and
enforcement at Aberavon Seafront. There is a need to rationalise the
parking operation in this area.

The following proposals are set out for Members consideration:

The current charging regime is operational from May to September in the
car parks on the seafront. However, there is unrestricted parking all day

Page 21



in the bays between the car parks and beach front these spaces are
being utilised by members of the public before taking the option of using
the Authority’s car parks.

The current charges are £1.00 all day from 1% May to 30" September.

Members are requested to increase the tariff charge in the seafront car
parks to £2.00 per day from 1% May to 30" September and introduce a
charge of £1.00 per day from 1% October to 30" April.

Members have also indicated that as there is no off-street car park
provision in Sandfileds East and request that the area currently being
utilised as a car park on the slip down on to the beach be incorporated in
to the off street car parking order with the same proposed tariff as above
and be known as Victoria Road car park.

As part of the ongoing seafront strategy it is proposed to introduce new
Traffic Orders along The Princess Margaret Way to prevent
indiscriminate parking. These include; a No Waiting, No Loading Traffic
Regulation Order for The Princess Margaret Way (Plans A) and a 2-Hour
Limited Waiting, No Return within 4 Hours, 7 Days a Week, to the
existing parking bays (Plans B).

Country Parks

The country parks are managed by Streetcare and Property &
Regeneration. Members are asked to consider aligning and increasing
the daily car parking charges in the Gnoll and Afan Forest parks.

The current charges are £2.00 all day at the Gnoll Country Park and
£1.00 all day at Afan Forest Park.

The relevant Heads of Service have proposed:-
The introduction of £2.50 up to 4 hours and £4.00 all day in the Gnoll
Country Park; Season Tickets would be revised to £52 per year (£1.00

per week).

That in Afan Forest Park the tariff would be £1.00 up to 1 hour, £2.50 up
to 4 hours and £4.00 all day.

Afan Forest Park will also need to be incorporated in to the Authority’s
off-street car parking order to enable enforcement.

Page 22



This could generate circa £30K of additional income to the country parks’
operating budgets.

Financial Impact

The total cost for the introduction of mobile camera enforcement is in the
region of £80K. The one off costs be funded from any surplus income
generated or underwritten by the Capital Vehicle Replacement
Programme.

The cost of the mobile camera hardware is approximately £20K with a
further £6K for the software required to view the contraventions. In
addition there would be approximately £5K of revenue expenditure for
incidentals (postage, DVLA enquiries etc.). There will be a need to
purchase an additional van.

There will be staffing costs with regards to digitising the orders, however
at this present moment we unable to quantify but maybe in the region of
£40K this figure also includes any additional signage that might be
required for enforcement.

In order to send out the relevant notices, the Authority will need to
purchase additional software from Imperial Civil Enforcement Solutions
this will be in the region of £15K plus annual maintenance fees.

Currently the Authority charges £20.00 for the administration and
production of a permit. Recently the Authority introduced the virtual
parking permit system that is hosted by Imperial Civil Enforcement
solutions (ICES) for the sum of £2.50 per permit.

It is intended that the pay back for the purchase of the hardware and
software be recouped out of the surplus from the permit system until the
costs are covered. Once the initial costs are covered the surplus is
intended to cover any increase in the costs of hosting the system as well
as contributing to employing additional civil enforcement officers.

Any surplus additional income is intended to offset the increase in NNDR
£47K which has been unfunded in 2018/19.

Page 23



Equality Impact Assessment

An Impact Assessmentis being undertaken to assist the Council in
discharging its Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010.

Legal Impacts

Any changes to the Parking charges need a Legal Order to be advertised
and any objections and observations will be reported back to
Streetscene and Engineering Scrutiny Committee and Streetscene and
Engineering Cabinet Board before a final decision is taken.

The Welsh Government legislates for the enforcement of parking
contraventions by approved devises under Statutory Instrument 2008
No. 620 entitled "The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions
(Approved Devices) (Wales) Order 2008’.

Approved devices are defined in this order as a camera and recording

equipment which have been certified by the Welsh Ministers as meeting
the specified requirements

Page 24



Tariff Options

Income 2016/17

Ticket
Duration Issued _ Income
£1.00 for 1 166322
hour £166,322
£1.50 for 2 105436
hours £158,154
£2.00 for 3 89501
hours £179,002
£2.50 for 4 42204
hours £105,510
£3.00 over 4 71908
hours £215,724
Sub | £824,712
Credit Card £38,345
Seafront
Parking 38106 £38,106
£901,163
Band Increase 10p
Ticket
Duration Issued _ Income
£1.10 for 1 166322
hour £182,954
£1.60 for 2 105436
hours £168,698
£2.10 for 3 89501
hours £187,952
£2.60 for 4 42204
hours £109,730
£3.10 over 4 71908
hours £251,678
£901,012
Credit Card £38,345
Seafront
Parking 38106 £38,106
Projected
Income £977,463
£76,300

Page 25




Band Increase 20p

Ticket
Duration Issued Income
£1.20for 1 166322
hour £199,586
£1.70 for 2 105436
hours £179,241
£2.20 for 3 89501
hours £196,902
£2.70 for 4 42204
hours £113,951
£3.20 over 4 71908
hours £258,869
£948,549
Credit Card £38,345
Seafront
Parking 38106 £38,106
Projected
Income £1,025,000
£123,837
Band Increase 30p
Ticket
Duration Issued Income
£1.30for1 166322
hour £216,219
£1.80 for 2 105436
hours £189,785
£2.30 for 3 89501
hours £205,852
£2.80 for 4 42204
hours £118,171
£3.30 over 4 71908
hours £237,296
£967,323
Credit Card £38,345
Seafront
Parking 38106 £38,106
Projected
Income £1,043,774
£142,611

Page 26




Band Increase 40p

Ticket
Duration Issued Income
£1.40 for 1 166322
hour £232,851
£1.90 for 2 105436
hours £200,328
£2.40 for 3 89501
hours £214,802
£2.90 for 4 42204
hours £122,392
£3.40 over 4 71908
hours £244 487
£1,014,860
Credit Card £38,345
Seafront
Parking 38106 £38,106
Projected
Income £1,091,311
£190,148
Band Increase 50p
Ticket
Duration Issued Income
£1.50 for 1 166322
hour £249,483
£2.00 for 2 105436
hours £210,872
£2.50 for 3 89501
hours £223,753
£3.00 for 4 42204
hours £126,612
£3.50 over 4 71908
hours £251,678
£1,062,398
Credit Card £38,345
Seafront
Parking 38106 £38,106
Projected
Income £1,138,849
£237,686

Page 27




X/
L X4
X/
L X4

X/
*

X/
L X4

X/
°

Virtual Permits

Virtual Permits Security Questions

Copy of the latest penetration test report on the system (we would
expect this to be carried out by a qualified third party). If the whole
report can’t be given to us could we have the executive summary?
Can we have confirmation that the penetration test is an annual
event?

Our permit solution has been tested by Pen Test Partners commissioned
by ICES. All weaknesses discovered have been instantly remedied. We
are planning on commissioning periodical penetration tests twice a year.
We are reserved on releasing penetration test results however in case
we are awarded the contract, we are happy to explore possibilities of a
mutually acceptable solution.

Data Storage and Backup policies — Where will the data (and
backup data) be stored? What physical security (to combat
unauthorised access, tampering, etc) does your data centre have?

Please find the policy attached. Data will be stored in our Bristol data
centre on ICES premises. Part of our solution though resides on Amazon
Web Services located in the EU.

In terms of physical security:

Visitor access is controlled,;

All external doors require passcodes or security tokens for access;
Extensive physical security measures (heavy duty bars, metal doors);
Building is alarmed with third-party patrol response;

Server and comms rooms require numeric key code to gain access. Only
appropriate staff have this access.

Is the data encrypted at rest and in transit?
Data is stored in flat files. As the permit system is hosted by us, in its

current form no transit of data takes place. All data recorded into the
permit system takes place using an https encrypted website.

Page 28



Will the data be shared with anyone else?

We will not share data with anyone without informing the Council and
gaining its approval.

We will need a Data Processing Agreement — do you have one that
you use or should we use ours?

Please find our standard DPA attached.
Details of how data migration is to be carried out

Concept:

Every new system inevitably attracts changes in processes. With
PermitSmarti our aim is to provide the Council with a quick go-live. The
transition of permits will take place gradually. The course of action
outlined below will require participation from both the Council and the
Permit holders. At the end of the process the Council's new
PermitSmarti system will be set-up to accommodate all requirements and
will operate with minimal legacy transactional data.

Strategy:

As part of implementation of the new system ICES will configure it so
that we are able to migrate a subset of the old system data in such a way
that it can be closed down and the new system used to hold basic data
about the old permits. The data will sit in the system alongside the new
configuration, but not interfering with it. The information taken on will not
take advantage of the capabilities of PermitSmarti but will allow key
business processes to continue, in particular having a repository for the
old permit system data after it has been decommissioned, and a feed to
the handhelds.

From previous migrations we know the common key processes around
permits that are necessary to keep the business running. Based on this
experience our recommended course of action will minimise the costs
but still deliver the process requirements. This pragmatic approach
avoids the absurdity of high migration costs for data which will be run
down and carries no additional value to the customer.

Page 29



Methodology:
We will follow the process of taking on permits by categorising to migrate
the Council's data into PermitSmatrti:

- We provide the Council a template to be filled with the data of permits
valid on the date (the data we need are the name, the address and the
permit type). This needs to be provided in two CSV files, in a format we
supply.

- We load the template into PermitSmarti with a permit end date. As a
consequence the permit system will go live very quickly and permits will
be instantly enforceable using Samsung handhelds.

- The legacy permit system can now be turned-off. There is no need to
use the old system anymore.

The Council’s permit data is migrated into the new system. As this data
is legacy data, the new permit system will provide limited functionality on
processing. The permits will not be renewable and will not be linked to a
citizen account however correspondence in relation to legacy permits
can be generated. The Council will be able to automatically generate e-
mails to permit owners in which they are informed on the expiry of their
permit or the introduction of the new permit system and are asked to go
on-line and create a user account. When the old permit expires, the
motorist will use his PermitSmarti account to create a new permit
application.

Details of the Authentication used to access the application and
details of any app based security.

Access to PermitSmarti occurs via https connection. In order to log-in a
password is required. For office users PermitSmarti allows the setting
very specific rules in terms of how an acceptable password is formed.
The parameters for this are:

The current rules are at least one each of upper case , lower case and

numeric. Account holders can request a password reset through their e-
mail account.

Page 30



In addition, the system is configured to automatically lock users out after
too many failed log-in attempts. In such case or if the back-office user
forgets his or her credentials, our Support Team will be happy to help.
Access rights to the application are managed trough user roles.

In the case of PermitSmarti, the system is configured to automatically
lock users out after too many failed log-in attempts. In such case or if the
back-office user forgets his or her credentials, our Support Team will be
happy to help. Members of the public are able to request password
resets using the citizen portal.

Do you hold Cyber Essentials certification?
No.

Data sanitisation — how will council data be erased when storage
media is decommissioned or when erasure is requested e.g. end of
contract?

At the end of the contract a copy of the tables containing council data are
returned to the Council. All data in our possession is securely deleted
and a certificate of destruction is issued. In case hardware is
decommissioned, it is securely disposed of and a certificate of
destruction is issued.

What is the data availability commitment of the cloud service?

The solution is designed to be available 24/7. Consequently it resides on
high availability equipment. Application updates and patches to the
underlying systems take place during out of office hours, most often early
morning, and do not take more than 15 minutes. In case our work affects
availability, the client will be notified in advance.

Page 31



Is there separation between Neath Port Talbot data and other client
data?

Client data is logically separated in the database. This makes it
impossible for clients to see each other’s data.
If incident management is in place will we get notified of any incidents?

Clients are notified in case the incident threatens the availability of the
application.

Are your staff subject to any personnel security screening?

No. All ICES staff have appropriate data protection and confidentiality
clauses in their contracts. All new members of staff are provided with
data protection training as part of their induction. Members of staff whose
role necessitates a more thorough level of training are provided with this
at the start of their employment and then refreshed at regular intervals
(usually annually unless changes in legislation require additional
training). Clauses on confidentiality and data protection are included in
the contracts of employment and the breach of data protection policy of
the company results in disciplinary procedure.

What security is in place when transmitting data from your servers
to the handhelds and from the handhelds back to your server?

Data from the system onto the handheld is transferred using ttps
connection.

Page 32



Plans A

T

S

— -
- _ ........ —
19 = )
ey SN0 . Sl
#* ...,,. ._.._._._..._._
HOWLYLE I sorEY 2 OIS Lk .
- Ve L A ..._......__..____ .
i . S TILLL .
Frrr it -
S EERTETTTITE . ¢ :
o s n m .
|
[ | o.
i Wi D AV B0
W NYId |
N A T T A T
LS T
e
f— LTI
1
—
- e m prmpm——— )
d o .H..”.““illn.. -
} _._.._.._. I —
ifet
it Lk ﬂi :
N h
- __
=TT «.......
aun AU e ]

Eupen oy
*Burpeag oy

A

Page 33



T

Z133HS
W MY

B IO
g Aue e
Buipen] oy
‘Buges, o

AdH

1

L

W EHDLA
MO

s rm—
§ T
1
II..|.....m.. -
J||||I|

THLNED SEIHLIEONY
FENBI NOAEIEY

BL0H HIYIE
- HOAVEREY

1

HOLY LR
RN L5 I

i |

Page 34



Plans B

o £ 1 e o e

I L33HS
g NYd

B EINoH
r L NG aEy o

Bugep,
P ) JnoH 2

ATH

e
==
LaTT

HOALVLE _
YD LEVOD

SonEY

v B AWM MO0 4

i

Page 35



oy
iy W 1 i
e —
fob it
T e O T e S
. = A -
—

ziaaHs | Il o Hy ’
g Nyl : . i .

F
o= o .H
| &, - —
A ] o
+ _.__
B!
# # ¥ x il Y
- i
- - - —
——
—— 1 e
I I
-
o
& E.._..J.._.w_
F; Iy 4 # D LEVOD
¥ y -
v 7
| m:._l.]l.lll ! e |J.||||..".F — i-__. . = S — — ’ . ||_« L
B A ! I - "ﬁlll” e — - PR - i .
oy .
JEEU0 SIN0H I ’

1 d
L]
S
f Un LMY o T HEME
Bumem, HOANND
pejin JNOH Z

BICHHNIE s P
SUINFD FEIMLE O 7 NOHHI
A FHNEIT HOAWHTEY

e —_— s

Page 36



Car Parking Tariff Schedule

loqe] Hod jied

v JAOQE SY JADQE 5y A0qE Sy aA0qe Sy aaoqe sy 2A0qQe S QAOQE SV JA0QE Sy 18D A24015-1|NJA|
joqe], Hod Hied
v JA0QE SY JAOQE SV JA0qE SY aaoqe sy JA0Qe S A0QE SV AA0QE SY 3A0Qe Sy | 1eD) alenbg Aurylag
FETRITENY
suosiad
palqesip {A)
sageLue)
PlIRALL (AD)
B (Y49
Pasoxa 10U s30p
oty Jo Sram
uape|un ay)
uaping 1o Spood
Jo 20uBA9Au0D
Ay 1o} asn
oy 1oy pardepe “UIIY
10 P3IDNNSUOD { umnjod
Aed 11V 0013 smoy g | widgp's 01 wepps Kepung EETRI N Jo(A) @ (an)
1oicwt (111) | oy soijdde ooeds
19y 2y jo | Sunyred B umgnam
(F)9€1 uomaas | Ajjoyp waiey
ul pautjap se  uumjos
Aep | sapaia sorow (1) Jo (uny o1 (1)
05°¢3 Re [V SPUnSLIyYD Py oo (r) | o) sarpdde soeds
00°€y  snoy -¢ Suipniaxs | (7) 9¢[ vonoas | Sunjred pajqesip
DO0IPE-Suow 71 | Q$'gF  snoy ¢-g aA1SN[OUL Jo uorstaoad ® URI Jal10
00°SET3F -sipuoi g | QO'TF  sinoy g-| Aepmeg urim Aeg Sunjied 10q[E] Hed
\4 00°0€13 - syuowr ¢ | g3 moy | e1dp) saney o[ | widpgg o1 weg('g 01 K¢puojy Sde0 Jo10w (1) | v uguam Aoy, | g10T 1udy o | yred 1m0 s Ay g
” aoe[d suBpEd
_ 0y uone[aa
em Rel ERIE] U1 133]32
107 potiad Jouonesdp | Jo uoneladg S[AU2A | SIIM2A TAA | [[IM ISPIO 3 e[ SUDjIRd
spueqg SE TR SETBY) JO O[E35 WATITRETA Jo smop Jjoskeq Josassey UruoNISoq | [PIM 18 a1e(] 311 JO aWeN
01 Twnjoyy 6 U0y g umnjo) L umnjo) g umnjo) S uwmnjoyy ¥y uwnjoD g uwmjo) umnjo)y T UwWno))

Page 37



B/ 3A0qQe 5y 3A0QE SY BA0QE Sy AA0(E S JA0QE Sy 9AOQE Sy 2A0QE Sy 10qe ], Hod Yied
1D PBOY BLIOWIA
10q[e 1 HOod Yied
B/ 3AOQE SY SA0QE SY 3A0qR Sy 3A0QE SV 2A0QE S aroqe sy SAOQE SV | IB) aNU2AY 13]IEDS
jeq[el Hod
e/ 3A0QE SY 2A0QR Sy A0qE SY 2A0QE SY 2A0QE SY anoqe sy SA0QE SV | YIed JeD mIlA Arg
udy ,0¢€
= 19Q0120) i
wdpo 01 Aepung
0013 21ie)d | pouad moy ¢ ojweQQ. | O} ABpUOIA]
Jaquiaidag
GOE-ARIN 1
3AISN[OU
wdpQ 01 Aepung 10Q[B 1 10d B
e/ 00'23 21 teg | pouad moy ¢ ojwepy s | 01 Aepuoly 2A0QE Sy 2A0qE S 9A0QE SV =) Aepp URADO
AR 1V 0017 smoy g | wdgpg o1 wepg's Aepung
0S°¢F Aeq v
00°¢¥ SOy H-¢
05'Z3  smoy ¢-g
00Zy  smoyZ-| 10q[e], Uod Yied
v/ | pgIFmoy | o1dn smoy 1 | wdppg o1 urep'g Aepamyes 2A00E 5V 2A0qe Y 9A0GE S 187y 20U JIATD
\-lq|
SBUNSLIYY)
Fuipnpoxa
QAISN[IUL
AepInjeg 10ge] Log Yied
3A0QE SV AA0QE Sy AA0QE S 2A0QE S 0] ABpPUOIN A0QE SY 2A0Q8 §Y AAOQE SY | IBD ABA\ U0IQ[I9H
Kep
SEWISIIYD)
Fupnpoxa
QALSTI[OUL joqe L Hod
Aepung Mg 18D AemyIe]
3AOQE S ABCT IV 00°E3 aA0qQe S AOQE Y 0] Aepuoy JA0QE 5y 2A0QE 5V QA0 Sy - opisinogleHq
Kepanieg
pue Kepsan],
Suipnpoxa 10q[E 1 Hod Y1ed
3A0QE S AAOQE SV QAOQE SY JA0QE S QAOQE SY 2A0QE Sy JA0QE SY AAOQE SY Ie0) peoy uonelg

Page 38



Aep

SERQSLIY
guipnjaxa
K 11V 00'v3 sarsnoul
Aepung ieaN yied
VIN wnuue 1ad 763 | 0§73 smoy ¢ o1 dn) smoy ] | wdgp'9 01 wepQ'y 0} Aepuoy] SAO(E Sy QAOQE S 3AOQE Sy IED YIRd ||0UD
Keq 11V 00'13 smoy ] | wdgg 01 urepp6 Aepung
Kep
0S¢y Aeq IV Seunsuyy)
00°€F  SMOY ¢ duipnjaxa
05ty  smoy ¢-7 aAIsndUL
007y smoyg-| Aepimeg YieaN jred
\' aroqe sy [ ¢y moy 1 ordp IA0QR Y A0QE SV 01 Aepuoy JAOQE S 2A0QE $Y SAOQE SY | IED) PROY PUB[IIN
w
_ Yrean red
v | AOQE SV A0QE SV 2A0QE SY 3A0QE SY JAOQE S aAoqe Sy anoqge Sy QAOQE 5 1]y 10015 GBI
| YieaN djed
v | 2A0qE SY AA0GE S M0QY SY A0QY SY 2A0QE SY AOQE Y IAQQE S 2A0QE Sy 1) 1921)S 13580y
|
Leq 1V 00°13 smoy g | wdgQ'g 03 Wepg'6 Lepung
|
_ Aeqq
0S'€3 AV SBUNSLIYD)
00°€¥  smoy p-¢ Supnjoxe
00°01FF -syuow 7 | QS°T¥  snoy £-¢ aaisnour
00°SECT -sypuowi g | g0'cF  snoy -] Aepmeg YIEaN ded
v 00°0€1F - suuow ¢ | ¢ 13 dnoy [ o1 dpy sinoy 1 | wdgp g 01 wrego'g 01 KBpUOTy 2A0QE SV A0qE SY 3A0QE S 18D KaJois-njnp
Aep
LB IV 00'+7 SEUnsLIYD)
Suipnjoxa
(S°'¢F sinoy ¢ 01 dn) aAlsnoul joq1el
Aepung Hod Yied JBD)
VIN e/ [ o yF4noy ordp smoy g1 | wdpp g 01 wegp'y 01 ABpuoIN 2A0qE SV AA0qE Sy sa0qe sy | yIed peoS1y uey

Page 39



AMEBPIBIUC]
Aeyg fuo]
AA0QE Sy 0073 21Bd 1B ] JAOQE SY JA0GE SV AR SY QA0(E §Y AAOQE 5 ANOQE Sy ed ) ssed-Ag
AMEBPIRIUO G
Amyg poyg
SAOQER SY QA0Qe Sy dA0qQR S 3A0QE 5y AA0Qe Sy JA0QE SY 2A0QE S 2A0QE Y W Je)) ssed-Ag
| | SMEDPIRIUO Mied
AA0OQE SV 0GR Sy QA0QE S JAOGE SY m 2A0QE SY SAOQR SY 9AOQR S anoqe sy 1) 10918 Y31y
UBMEMEC&
e 1) (2mo)
3A0QE SY A0QE SY AA0QE SY AA0OqE SY JA0QE SY JA0QR 5y QAOQE S 2A0qe Sy 1904§ UaqieH
AeQ
0s'€y  Aequv SBUNSLYD)
00'€3  SInoy p-¢ Fuipnpoxa
00°01¥% -syuow g1 | 0¢'zy  smoy - aatsnoUL amepIEilog
00'SETT - syuow 9 | QO'ZF SOy -1 Aepmieg yred D (1oddn)
00 0€17F - stpuour ¢ 05’13 moy [ o3 dpy smoy o] | wdpp g 01 Wepp'y 01 ABpUOIy AA0Qe Sy QAOQE SV 3A0QE Sy 12215 UIQIRH

Page 40



	Agenda
	3 Consultation on Environment Directorate's Budget and Draft Savings for 2018/19
	SSE Scrutiny Budget Appendix A


